Court of Appeals No. 76097-1-I

NO	
SUPREME COURT	
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	

JAMES D. MOCK, DANELLE BAME, on behalf of minor child J.B. (DOB 06/09/01) and LINDA and TOM RYAN, a married couple,

Appellants

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through its DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, STATE OF WASHINGTON (DOC),

Respondent

Appeal from King County Superior Court Honorable Jeffrey Ramsdell, Judge Cause No. 15-2-05471-6 SEA

Appellants'

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip G. Arnold, WSBA No. 2675 Jeffery M. Campiche, WSBA No. 7592 2025 First Avenue, Suite 830 Seattle, WA 98121 206-281-9000 CAMPICHE ARNOLD PLLC

and

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioners—James D. Mock, Danelle Bame, on behalf of the minor child J.B. (date of birth 06/09/01), and Linda and Tom Ryan—ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. INTRODUCTION

The Petitioners brought a negligent supervision of a dangerous felon action against the DOC. Petitioners claim that the DOC's community custody supervision of a felon is a Restatement § 319³ take charge relationship. This relationship imposes upon the DOC a Restatement §319 common law duty to use reasonable care to protect foreseeable victims from the felon's violent propensities. Reasonable care in this case requires the DOC to report to a new sentencing court the felon's dangerous community custody and behavioral violations which was not done. The DOC claims that it met the statutory requirements of the Sentencing Reform Act⁴ which did not require the DOC to report to the new sentencing court. Petitioners argue that the Restatement §319 duty is a common law duty and compliance with statutes is not conclusive

³ Restatement (Second) of Torts § 319 (AM. LAW INST. 1965) [hereinafter Restatement § 319].

⁴ RCW 9.94A.6332, Appendix at A-20 to A-21, and RCW 9.94A.737, Appendix at A-15 to A-19.

evidence of due care where a reasonable man would take additional precautions. The Court of Appeals finding no statutory requirement for the DOC to report found no duty to report and upheld the dismissal of this law suit on summary judgment.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners request review of the Court of Appeals decision *Mock* v. *State*, No.76097-1-I, slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2017) attached in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-14.

Review is sought of the Court of Appeals' rulings:

- That no common law duty existed for the Washington
 State Department of Corrections (DOC) to report its
 knowledge of the homicidal risk of the felon it
 supervised on community custody to a new sentencing
 court; and
- 2. Upholding the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Petitioners' negligent DOC supervision lawsuit based on the claim that the DOC's community corrections officer owed a duty to report his concerns about the dangerous propensities of the felon he supervised to a new sentencing court.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review with this claim and applying to both assignments of error are:

- 1. Whether the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA)⁵ abrogates Joyce v.

 Dep't of Correction's⁶ holding that—when a Restatement §

 319 take charge relationship exists—a jury could find the DOC's failure to report an offender's violations to a sentencing court a breach of its Restatement § 319 duty to use reasonable care to protect others from a dangerous felon?⁷

 No.
- 2. Did the 2009 SRA statutes change the Restatement § 319 duty of the DOC from a common law standard of care, as articulated by Taggart v. State, 8 to solely a statutory standard of care?
 No.

⁵ RCW 9.94A.6332, Appendix at A-20 to A-21, and RCW 9.94A.737, Appendix at A-15 to A-19

⁶ 155 Wn.2d 306, 315-16, ¶ 25, 119 P.3d 825, 830 (2005).

⁷ RCW 72.09.320 requires gross negligence of a community corrections officer before the DOC is liable.

^{8 118} Wn.2d 195, 218-19, 822 P.2d 243, 244-475 (1992).

3. Whether the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 288 C⁹ which provides—"Compliance with a legislative enactment or an administrative regulation does not prevent a finding of negligence where a reasonable man would take precautions"—is still the law in Washington?

Yes.

4. Is the DOC's compliance with the SRA statutes conclusive
evidence that it fulfilled its Restatement § 319 common law
duty to use reasonable care to protect foreseeable victims from
a felon's violent propensities?

No.

5. Whether the DOC can be held liable for failing to report an offender's previous dangerous community custody and behavioral violations to a new sentencing court when not required to do so by statute?

Yes.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioners sued the Washington State Department of Correc-

⁹ Restatement (Second) of Torts § 288 C (Am. Law Inst. 1965) [hereinafter Restatement § 288 C].

tions (DOC) for the negligent supervision of domestic violence offender and convicted felon John McKay on DOC community custody.¹⁰ Petitioners are referred to herein as the McKay victims.

1. Procedural History

The trial court dismissed the McKay victims' negligent DOC supervision case on summary judgment finding no DOC duty to the McKay victims.¹¹ The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal.¹² The McKay victims now request review by the Washington State Supreme Court.

2. Facts

The facts are horrific. McKay a serial domestic violence offender¹³ was on DOC community custody¹⁴ when he attempted to murder, shot and

¹⁰ CP 1-13 (Complaint for Damages); CP 24-40 (First Amended Complaint for Damages); CP 79-82 (Order Granting Leave for Plaintiffs to File Second Amended Complaint for Damages); CP 101-118 (Second Amended Complaint for Damages); CP 174-75 (Order Granting in part and denying in part Defendant's 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint).

¹¹ CP 2063-66 (Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Order denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment.).

¹² Appendix A at A-13 and A-14.

¹³ CP 284-5 ¶ B; CP 762 (12-1-02270-1KNT Judgment and Sentence for Felony Harassment-DV) and at CP 1927-30, ¶¶ 4 and 17 (Declaration of Zachary W. Jarvis); CP 1958-1965 (same as above) and CP 285, ¶ E; CP 552-57 (12-1-02762-1 KNT Malicious Mischief Bail Request and Certification for Determination of Probable Cause); See also, CP 1927-30, ¶¶ 7, 17; CP 1983-2014 (Superior Court documents for 12-1-02762-1 KNT, Malicious Mischief).

¹⁴ CP 284-5, ¶ B (Declaration of Philip G. Arnold in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and of Authenticity); CP 762-78 (12-1-02270-1KNT Judgment and Sentence for Felony Harassment-DV); and CP 1927-30, ¶¶ 4 and 17 (Declaration of Zachary W. Jarvis), CP 1958-65 (same as above).

terrorized the McKay victims.¹⁵ McKay was originally placed on community custody supervision after committing a first domestic violence felony against his wife.¹⁶ The DOC knew from its community custody supervision, and the court did not, that McKay:

- 1. Was ungovernable on community custody;
- 2. Violated a no-contact order with his estranged wife;
- 3. Trashed the family home; ¹⁷
- 4. Was a serious homicidal risk; 18 and
- 5. The DOC wanted McKay in jail. 19

McKay then committed a second felony against friends in an attempt to obtain the address of his estranged wife.²⁰ The sentencing court for the second felony did not request a pre-sentence report from the DOC

¹⁵ CP 196-201 (Declaration of James D. Mock); CP 202-5 (Declaration of Linda S. Ryan ¹⁶ CP 284-5 at ¶ B (Declaration of Philip G. Arnold in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and of Authenticity); CP 762-78 (12-1-02270-1KNT Judgment and Sentence for Felony Harassment-DV); and at CP 1927-30, ¶¶ 4 and 17 (Declaration of Zachary W. Jarvis); CP 1958-65.

¹⁷ CP 284-92, ¶¶ E, H, and J; CP 564 (DOC Report of Alleged Violation noting lack of adjustment to supervision to be 'non-existent'); CP 713 ('...he won't make it that far before being arrested...'); CP 724 (DOC Chrono noting trashing of family home); CP 587 at 21:1-16 (CR 30(b)(6) Coker Dep.), CP 604-5 (DOC Chrono noting new violation of no-contact order by McKay); See also CP 360-62 (CR 30(b)(6) Ashlock Dep.); CP 459 (Plaintiff's EX E to CR 30(b)(6) Ashlock Dep.).

¹⁸ CP 284-92 ¶¶ J, L; CP 372 at 80:8-15 and CP 377 at 85:16-21 (CR 30(b)(6) Ashlock Dep.).

¹⁹ CP 287-88 ¶ J; CP 384 at 92: 4-8 (Ashlock Dep.); CP 585-86 at 19:25-20:1-2 (CR 30(b)(6) Coker Dep.); CP 676 at 33:2-15, and CP 689 at 46:18-21 (CR 30(b)(6) Deabler Dep.).

²⁰ CP 285, ¶ E; CP 552-6 (12-1-02762-1 KNT Malicious Mischief Bail Request and Certification for Determination of Probable Cause); *See also*, CP 1927-30, ¶¶ 7, 17; CP 1983-2014 (Superior Court documents for 12-1-02762-1 KNT, Malicious Mischief).

and instead ordered a defense requested Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative (DOSA) evaluation from the Department.²¹ The DOC knew the details of the upcoming sentencing hearing,²² but did not report McKay's sentence and behavioral violations to the new sentencing court.²³ In fact, the DOC had a process it called a "special" by which it could notify a court for any reason to give the court information.²⁴

The unaware sentencing court released this homicidal felon upon the public for approximately a month to wait for a bed for court ordered, in-patient treatment.²⁵ McKay was given the freedom to attempt to murder, shoot, and terrorize the McKay victims.²⁶

The Petitioners presented substantial expert testimony—that had the DOC given the new sentencing judge the benefit of its information on McKay's behavioral and sentence violations—McKay would have been in jail and not on the street at the time he attempted to murder his victims.²⁷

²¹ CP 287, ¶¶ I, J; CP 396-8 (Chemical Dependency Examination Report Summary-DOSA).

²² CP 284-92, ¶ J; CP 603 (DOC Chrono authored by Coker).

²³ CP 360-62 (CR 30(b)(6) (Ashlock Dep.); CP 459 (Plaintiff's EX E to CR 30(b)(6) Ashlock Dep.).

²⁴ CP 590 at 24:17-23 (CR 30(b)(6) Coker Dep.).

²⁵ CP 1927-28, ¶ 8; CP 2041 (Order of Release).

²⁶ CP 196-201 (Declaration of James D. Mock); CP 202-5 (Declaration of Linda S. Ryan).

²⁷ CP 212-18 (Declaration of Judge Michael J. Fox, Ret'd), ¶ 14; CP 275-83 (Declaration of Anne Bremner), ¶¶ 15 and 16; CP 219-26 (Declaration of Zachary C. Wagnild), ¶¶ 11 and 12; CP 206-211 (Declaration of Timothy J. Leary Opposing Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment), ¶¶ 11 and 12; and CP 1628 – 60 (Declaration of Dan Hall Opposing Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment), ¶¶ 64-66 submitted in support of

Community custody is a Restatement § 319 take charge relationship creating a § 319 duty of reasonable care to protect the public from dangerous felons. *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 315-16, ¶¶ 22-26. McKay's community custody supervision was sufficient DOC control to impose a Restatement § 319 duty upon the DOC. Thus, the DOC had a duty to report McKay's behavioral and sentence violations.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. This case involves substantial public policy and safety interests that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The paramount purpose of the DOC is to ensure the public safety.

"The system should ensure the public safety. The system should be designed and managed to provide the maximum feasible safety for the persons and property of the general public, the staff, and the inmates."

28

The DOC is an essential barrier between the public and the dangerous felons it supervises on community custody.²⁹ The Court of Appeals made a policy decision to weaken this barrier by limiting the fundamental duty of the DOC in Restatement § 319 take charge cases.

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 227) that had the DOC reported its knowledge to the sentencing court a reasonably prudent judge likely would have jailed McKay or had McKay in an in-patient treatment center on October 27, 2012, the day McKay shot the Plaintiffs. See also, CP 250-6 (Declaration of William Prestia), ¶¶ 5-8 and CP 257-63 (Declaration of Robert Jourdan), ¶¶ 5-11 specifically for evidence of Judge Andrus' reasonably prudent judicial practice.

²⁸ RCW 72.09.010(1) (emphasis added).

²⁹ RCW 9.94A.6332(7), Appendix at A-20, and RCW 9.94A.737, Appendix at A-15 to A-19.

This decision, contrary to the Public Policy of Washington, limits the DOC's duty to comply solely with the SRA statutes,³⁰ disregarding situations where a common law reasonable man would take additional precautions. In other words, compliance with the SRA statutes by law constitutes the exercise of common law reasonable care.³¹ This error underpins the Court of Appeals decision which held:

[D]eabler [community corrections officer]³² was not expected to notify the court when McKay committed violations. No statute required him to do so.³³

Deabler fulfilled his <u>statutory role</u> by reporting McKay's violation to the department and recommending the maximum 30-day sanction.³⁴

There is no evidence that the department, in supervising McKay, failed to comply with <u>statutes</u> or with court directives.³⁵

A reporting obligation was not imposed on Deabler [community corrections officer] by the relevant <u>statutes</u>, by McKay's <u>sentence conditions</u>, or by any <u>order of the court</u>.³⁶

[T]he trial court properly dismissed plaintiffs' claim the department's community corrections officer owed a duty to report

³⁰ RCW 9.94A.6332, Appendix at A-20 to A-21, and RCW 9.94A.737, Appendix at A-15 to A-19.

³¹ The Court of Appeals decision found a Restatement § 319 relationship existed between McKay and the DOC but that the (statutory) terms of the relationship did not require the DOC to report McKay's violations to the Court. *Mock v. State*, No.76097-1-I, slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2017), Appendix at 13 (emphasis in original).

³² CP 287-88, ¶ J authenticates Deabler Dep.: CP 650 at 7:4-12 (CR 30(b)(6) Deabler Dep.).

³³ Mock Appendix at 12 (emphasis added) (bracketed material added).

³⁴ Id. Appendix at 12 (emphasis added).

³⁵ *Id.* Appendix at 12 (emphasis added).

³⁶ Id. Appendix at 13 (emphasis added).

concerns about McKay's dangerous propensities to the sentencing court.³⁷

It is for the jury to decide if <u>reasonable care</u> required the community corrections officer to report to the sentencing court.³⁸ The SRA³⁹ expresses no intent to negate the general rule of reasonable care.⁴⁰ Our Supreme Court observed that:

Washington State waived sovereign immunity more than 40 years ago. <u>RCW 4.92.090</u>. Implicitly, this waiver functions as a promise that the <u>State and its agents will use reasonable care</u> while performing its duties at the risk of incurring liability. *See, e.g., Keller v. City of Spokane*, <u>146 Wn.2d 237, 243, 44 P.3d 845 (2002)</u>.

Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 309, ¶1 (emphasis added).

Washington adopted the Restatement § 288 C which provides: "Compliance with a legislative enactment or an administrative regulation does not prevent a finding of negligence where a reasonable man would take precautions."⁴¹ This is a fundamental principle of the common law.⁴²

³⁷ Id. Appendix at 14.

³⁸ Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 316-17, ¶ 25, which held a jury could find the DOC's failure to report an offender's violations to the court a breach of its Restatement § 319 duty.

³⁹ RCW 9.94A.6332, Appendix at A-20 to A-21, and RCW 9.94A.737, Appendix at A-15 to A-19.

⁴⁰ Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 282 (Am. Law Inst. 1965), approved by *Bodin v. City of Stanwood*, 130 Wn.2d 726, 744, 927 P.2d 240, 249-50 (1997) ("The basis of any negligence action is the failure to exercise reasonable care when one has a *duty* to exercise such care.") (emphasis in the original quote).

⁴¹ Hurley v. Port Blakely Tree Farms L.P., 182 Wn. App. 753, 773-75 n.14, 332 P.3d 469, 480 (2014). A similar rule was articulated by Curtis v. Perry, 171 Wash. 542, 547, 18 P.2d 840, 843 (1933).

⁴² The Restatement § 288C was not cited to the lower courts. New authority supporting arguments is allowed for the first time on appeal. "But RAP 2.5(a), which bars errors raised for the first time on appeal, does not prohibit parties from citing new authorities on

While violation of a statutory duty may in certain circumstances constitute negligence per se, the inverse proposition, that compliance with a statute precludes a finding of negligence, is not the law; a statutory standard is no more than a minimum, and it does not necessarily preclude a finding that the actor was negligent in failing to take additional precautions.

57A Am. Jur. 2D Negligence § 709 (2004) (emphasis added).

McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 68 Wn. App. 96, 101, 841 P.2d 1300, 1303 (1992), applied this rule to the State in a highway design case. There the State argued that it followed the States' priority array statute setting forth the precedential order of traffic improvement projects and

[c]ould not be held liable for its failure to make certain improvements to SR 900 since the legislature controlled the

appeal." Zonnebloem, LLC v. Blue Bay Holdings, LLC, 200 Wn. App. 178, 183, ¶13, 401 P.3d 468, 3471 (2017). The principle enunciated by this Restatement rule was made to the lower courts—that although the DOC met its statutory duties and no statute required the DOC to report McKay's behavioral and sentencing violations—the common law standard of care required it to so report. Appellants admit that the DOC committed no statutory violation with respect to McKay's community custody supervision. Appellant's Brief at vi-vii ("On the surface, the DOC's supervision of McKay was appropriate with more in-person contact with McKay than required [by statute]) (bracketed material added). See, Appellant's Brief at 30 ("Defendant argued below to limit DOC's duty to only statutory violations DOC then infers that a statute must make reporting mandatory for a duty to report to exist."); Id. at 3 ("Implicit in the DOC's logic is the notion that its duty of care is statutory—if a statute does not grant power to sanction—no duty exits. The premise of this argument is false. The duty of care is imposed by the common law and not by statute."); Id. at vi ("It is the plaintiff-victims theory of this case that the DOC, even if unasked, was under an independent common law duty to report its material knowledge of McKay's behavioral violations to the court."); Id. at 1 (Assignment of Error 4 to the trial court's ruling that "the statutory duty to supervise does not include reporting to sentencing courts ..."); Id. at 6 (repeats Assignment of Error 4 and "The DOC claims it had no common law duty to report to the court this knowledge contrary to Supreme Court precedent."), Id. at 28 (repeats Assignment of Error 4); Id. at 33 (DOC argues "that since not statute requires DOC to report to or share information ... with the court, there is no duty to report ..." is inconsistent with the common law.); Id. at 12 ("Joyce refused the DOC claim that since its authority to supervise arise from the judgment and sentence, the judgment and sentence must also limit it duty of reasonable care as a matter of law."); and Id. at 12-14 for an extended discussion of this argument.

expenditure of funds for road projects through its adoption of a priority array and the Legislature did not authorize funding for the improvement of this section of road.⁴³

The court ruled that:

The trial court also properly refused to instruct the jury that "it may not find the Department of Transportation liable" if it determined that the State acted in accordance with the priority programming law. RCW 47.05 does not state that compliance with the priority program insulates the State from liability. Although compliance with a statute is generally admissible as evidence of due care to assist the trier of fact, it is not conclusive evidence. See Estate of Celiz v. PUD 1, 30 Wn. App. 682, 638 P.2d 588 (1981) (utility's compliance with electrical standards in Washington Administrative Code does not mean a lack of negligence; rather it means compliance with the State's minimal requirements).

McCluskey, 68 Wn. App. at 111 (emphasis added).⁴⁴ The Court of Appeals policy decision—incompatible with public policy and fundamental tort law—makes SRA statutory compliance conclusive evidence of due care.

2. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and other Courts of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

With this one rule of law (statutory compliance), the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the Supreme Court, 45 other Court of

⁴³ Hurley, 182 Wn. App, at 101.

⁴⁴ Another annunciation of this principle is found in *Graham v. Roderick*, 32 Wn.2d 427, 433, 202 P.2d 253, 257 (1949), an automobile collision case: "The care required of the operator of an automobile, aside from special duties imposed by statute or ordinance, is ordinary or reasonable care under the existing circumstances, and mere compliance with all statutory requirements does not of itself absolve a motorist from negligence."

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