FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/10/2018 10:48 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 951543

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES D. MOCK, DANELLE BAME, on behalf of minor child J.B. (DOB 06/09/01) and LINDA and TOM RYAN, a married couple,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through its DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CONTINGENT CROSS PETITION

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PAUL J. TRIESCH Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 17445 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Tel: 206-464-7352 OID No. 91019

I. INTRODUCTION

This case does not involve a decision of the Court of Appeals that conflicts with either a decision of this Court or with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). It also does not present a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). The trial court granted summary judgment to Respondent Department of Corrections (DOC) based on settled law holding that a "probation officer's responsibility is to carry out the orders of the court after a defendant has been sentenced. It is not to second-guess a court's sentence." *Bishop v. Miche*, 88 Wn. App. 70, 80-81, 943 P.2d 706 (1997), *rev'd on other grounds*, 137 Wn.2d 518, 973 P.2d 465 (1999). "[A supervising agency] may not be sued because of a mistake in sentencing." *Id.*

The theory of negligent supervision does not apply to claims that a sentencing court erred in granting a sentencing alternative. Rather, it applies to DOC's administrative duty to enforce the court's conditions of supervision. As this Court stated in reviewing *Bishop*, "any claimed negligence resulting from the probation officer's failure to do anything about [an offender's] fraudulent representations to the sentencing court is protected by quasi-judicial immunity." *Bishop*, 137 Wn.2d at 532 n.3.

While DOC does not support review, if this Court accepts review it should also review and correct the Court of Appeals' flawed analysis regarding the application of quasi-judicial immunity. The court erroneously stated that quasi-judicial immunity does not apply to discretionary decisions to refrain from taking an action, but applies to discretionary decisions to take an action. *Mock v. State*, 200 Wn. App. 667, 675, 403 P.3d 102 (2017). This ignores the functional analysis required for the application of quasi-judicial immunity and opens DOC to claims of negligent supervision where it declines to impose any condition in the full array of possible additional conditions of supervision. It also conflicts with decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals and presents an issue of substantial public interest.

II. NATURE OF CASE AND DECISION

This case arises out of crimes committed by John McKay on October 27, 2012. McKay shot Petitioners James Mock and Linda Ryan and kidnapped Petitioner J.B. while McKay was awaiting an inpatient bed date during community supervision by DOC. This case does not involve a claim of negligent supervision *per se*, however, as Petitioners admit there is no evidence DOC was grossly negligent in supervising McKay's conditions.

DOC moved for summary judgment on three grounds.¹ First, Petitioners presented no evidence DOC was grossly negligent in supervising McKay's conditions of supervision.² To the contrary, DOC's supervision was exemplary following McKay's court-ordered September 28, 2012 release. CP at 1368:7-22. McKay had no violations of the court's conditions for which DOC could have arrested him, much less for which DOC could have sanctioned him with incarceration through the date of his crimes against Petitioners.³ CP at 1376:22-1378:1; 1162-63.

DOC's Community Correction Officers (CCOs) met face-to-face with McKay 21 times in 27 days, far exceeding the CCO-offender contact requirements set forth by DOC policy.⁴ CP at 1368:7-22; 1374:4-18. McKay's CCOs also conducted a home visit, spoke with McKay's parents, performed five tests for alcohol consumption on McKay (all of which were negative), and verified his attendance at his support meetings.⁵ McKay fully satisfied his conditions of supervision.⁶ CP at 1154-59.

Appendix I to retitioner

¹ Appendix 1 to Petitioner's Statement of Grounds for Direct Review.

² Appendix 1, p. 27:1-17.

³ Appendix 1, pp. 27:17-28:7.

⁴ See Appendix 2, pp. 13-18, ¶¶77-111. DOC policy regarding contacts with offenders having McKay's risk assessment scores requires the CCO to see the offender once a month in the office, once every three months in the field, with one collateral contact. *Id.*, pp.17-18, ¶103. CCOs met McKay nearly 20 times more often than DOC required.

⁵Id.

⁶ Appendix 3, p. 2, ¶¶6-12.

Second, DOC was entitled to quasi-judicial immunity, because Petitioners' sole theory was that the trial court erred in issuing McKay's criminal sentence. DOC had no duty to attend the court's sentencing.

Third, DOC fully met its duty to supervise McKay by monitoring and enforcing his conditions of supervision and imposing the maximum penalty for his known violations following a sanctions hearing.

Petitioners criticize the sentencing court's discretionary decision to release McKay into the community, arguing the court failed to appreciate the danger he posed. Petitioners then claim DOC is responsible for the court's decision, because DOC did not ensure the court appreciated that risk.

However, when McKay committed the malicious mischief crime for which he was sentenced, he was already on community supervision following a May 2012 conviction for felony harassment. On July 9, 2012, McKay drank alcohol in violation of the conditions of supervision from his first felony conviction, then damaged the garage and cars belonging to family friends. Following that incident, law enforcement arrested McKay and referred him for prosecution for felony malicious mischief. CP at 563-

⁷ Appendix 2, p. 9, ¶53. Petitioners do not challenge DOC's supervision during this period of community custody either. Again, DOC regularly met with McKay, tested him for alcohol use, and referred him to services. App. 2, pp. 4-9, ¶¶ 23-52.

⁸ Appendix 2, p. 9, ¶53.

65. DOC separately initiated a community custody sanction proceeding.⁹ McKay's CCO also informed DOC's hearings officer of an incident occurring a week before the arrest, in which McKay damaged his own house.¹⁰ CP at 563-65. On July 24, 2012, DOC imposed the maximum sanction of 30 days incarceration.¹¹ CP at 563-65.

DOC forwarded all the information it possessed to law enforcement and to the King County Prosecutor. ¹² Fifty days after DOC imposed the maximum penalty for violating his conditions of supervision, McKay pleaded guilty to a new felony conviction for Malicious Mischief with an aggravating factor of rapid recidivism. ¹³ CP at 1162. In the plea deal, the King County Prosecutor stipulated to facts set forth in the probable cause statement, which did not include the information provided by DOC.

On September 28, 2012, the sentencing court granted McKay's request for a residential Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative (DOSA) and

⁹ Appendix 2, pp. 10-11, ¶¶59-64. DOC reported the information contained in the diagram on Petitioners' Statement of Grounds to the DOC hearing officer, with the exception of a possible violation of a no-contact order. The CCO did not include that information because it would not have altered the maximum possible sanction. Appendix 2, pp. 11-12, ¶¶65-67.

¹⁰ Appendix 2, pp.7-8 ¶¶43-44. The CCO determined he did not have probable cause to sanction McKay for this potential violation because it was not witnessed, but he did report it to the DOC hearing officer for consideration.

¹¹ Appendix 2, p. 12, ¶68; RCW 9.94A.633(1).

¹² Appendix 2, p. 9, ¶¶53-55, p. 11, ¶66. This included McKay's possible violation of a no-contact order, an incident in which McKay damaged his own home, the CCO's opinion regarding McKay's adjustment to supervision, and the CCO's guess about whether McKay would be arrested.

¹³ Appendix 2, p.12, ¶70-71. McKay was still being held in pre-trial detention because he could not make bail.

released him into the community until the next available inpatient bed date. ¹⁴ CP at 1164. DOC did not attend McKay's sentencing hearing. ¹⁵ CP at 1159. The sentencing court had a statutory mechanism to solicit DOC's recommendation, but did not use it. Had the sentencing court requested the input of McKay's CCO, the CCO would have recommended the very same sentencing alternative the court in fact ordered. ¹⁶ CP at 1809.

On Friday, October 26, 2012, McKay dined with his sister at a Renton Taco Time. 17 CP at 1115. As they left the restaurant, McKay saw his estranged wife across the street, dressed as if she were going on a date. 18 CP at 1115. The next day, he stole guns from his nephew, broke into his wife's home, and committed the crimes underlying Petitioners' claims. 19 CP 1115-16; 1312-13. On these facts, Petitioners cannot prove DOC was negligent, much less grossly negligent. 20 Petitioners' have admitted this.

Although Petitioners assert McKay was a dangerous, homicidal, domestic-violence offender, he displayed no behaviors suggesting continued violence during the month of October 2012.²¹ CP at 1863-71.

¹⁴ Appendix 2, p.12, ¶72.

¹⁵ Appendix 2, p.13, ¶73.

¹⁶ Appendix 2, p.13, ¶¶73-74. DOC believed a DOSA sentence would provide the structure McKay needed.

¹⁷ Appendix 3, p. 3, ¶¶16-23.

¹⁸ Id.

¹⁹ *Id.* at p. 3, ¶¶22-23.

²⁰ See RCW 72.09.320 (gross negligence standard for community supervision).

²¹ Although illustrative of the dangers of domestic violence, this case does not involve a failure to appreciate those dangers. *See e.g.* Appendix 2, pp. 5-6, \P 29-30 (CCO

DOC was aware of the dangers posed by domestic violence offenders, but McKay's CCOs could only arrest him if he violated the court's conditions of supervision. In short, McKay's crimes were the result of a chance encounter that was not preventable by any level of supervision.

III. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Where Petitioners concede there is no evidence DOC's supervision of McKay was grossly negligent, and where the trial court applied settled law to hold DOC is not liable for a sentencing court's exercise of judicial discretion, did the trial court err in granting DOC summary judgment?

IV. REASONS DIRECT REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Trial Court Followed Precedent In Concluding DOC's Statutory Duty Did Not Apply To Sentencing Proceedings

Washington's courts have consistently held that DOC's duty to supervise offenders on community supervision is a statutory duty, not a common law duty. *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 224, 822 P.2d 243 (1992) (negligent supervision cause of action applies where an officer "failed to perform *a statutory duty* according to the procedures dictated *by statute* and superiors.") The cases Petitioners cite as recognizing a duty to

7

contacted victim liaison program within 26 minutes of receiving the file). McKay was separated from his wife, who had received victim services both from DOC and King County and was living in a location unknown to McKay. McKay complied with the court's orders and gave every appearance of preparing to benefit from entering treatment. Meanwhile, DOC supervised him as closely as possible, meeting him every business day.

report to a court as part of supervision do not advance their claim in any way; those cases were statute-based too, because in each instance, DOC was directed by statute to sanction the offender via a court process.

In *Hertog v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 279, 797 P.2d 400 (1999), this Court concluded that because the probation statute authorized probation officers to initiate proceedings to revoke parole by filing a report asking for it, supervision included a duty to ask for revocation. *Id.* In *Joyce v. State*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 316-317, 119 P.3d 825 (2005), this Court turned to a statutory analysis to determine whether that duty arose under the Offender Accountability Act. The *Joyce* court determined that where the statute directed DOC to file a violation report with the court to seek sanctions, the duty to supervise included making such a report. *Id.* at 311.

Washington's appellate courts have also looked to statutes to define the contours of the negligent supervision cause of action. *See, e.g., Hustad v. State,* 187 Wn. App. 579, 587, 348 P.3d 776 (2015) ("pursuant to that statute, a community corrections officer must monitor the offender's compliance with the conditions of supervision and his or her progress on supervision.") (emphasis added); *Estate of Davis v. State,* 127 Wn. App. 833, 842, 113 P.3d 487 (2005) ("A corrections officer cannot take charge of an offender without a court order and he can only enforce the order according to its terms and controlling statutes"). Though Petitioners observe that the

Taggart and *Joyce* courts referred to common law concepts in the Restatement to explain the scope of the duty, the duty itself is and has always been statutory.

The *Taggart* court referred to the Restatement not to adopt it, but to explain that the supervision statutes created "a *similar duty* for the officers." *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219 (emphasis added). And the *Joyce* Court referred to the Restatement simply to address the DOC's argument about the foreseeability of the ultimate injury. *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 315 (noting that once a duty exists, "the question remains whether the injury was reasonably foreseeable"). *Joyce* does not alter the principle that the duty is statutory.

Here, the trial court simply followed precedent directing it to analyze the applicable statute to determine whether the negligent supervision cause of action included a duty to participate in criminal sentencing decisions. Unlike the statutes in *Taggart, Joyce*, and *Hertog*, which provided that community custody were remedied by reporting those violations to the court, the applicable statute here is RCW 9.94A.6332, which does not authorize a court to punish violations. That authority is exclusively reserved to the DOC. RCW 9.94A.6332(7). The statutory framework here does not remove DOC's obligation to supervise offenders. Rather, it removes the sentencing court's participation in determining sanctions for violations of the conditions of supervision.

Petitioners' argument that excluding judicial officers from the imposition of sanctions negatively impacts public safety is factually supported in this record and is irrelevant to the question before this Court. The statutory amendment implementing administrative sanctions, colloquially referred to as "Swift and Certain," is grounded in evidence-based policy making. It is supported by studies conducted by the Washington State Institute of Public Policy demonstrating that using shorter, more certain, and quicker administrative DOC sanctions reduces recidivism rates. ²² Petitioners offer nothing more than argument in support of their challenge to the Legislature's decision.

Here, DOC followed the statutory process as designed. DOC fully performed its duty in monitoring McKay's compliance with his conditions of supervision. His CCO reported his violations to the proper quasi-judicial DOC hearing officer, who then conducted a hearing and imposed the maximum sanction. These functions occurred two months before McKay's new criminal process resulted in a guilty plea and conviction. DOC then went beyond its statutory obligation and provided all material information it had regarding McKay to law enforcement and to the King County Prosecutor. The fact that those entities chose not to use that information or

²² Appendix 4, p. 5, ¶35. In contrast, the additional time, process, and uncertainty of a court's discretion undermines the effectiveness of sanctions in deterring conduct.

require McKay to plead to a higher-level crime is part of the judicial process, not the CCO's supervision of McKay's conditions of release.

The trial court recognized the clear distinction between supervision and criminal prosecution and properly held that DOC's duty to supervise does not include ensuring that a sentencing court punishes a criminal act in a particular way. This holding does not overrule the common law or introduce any confusion in statutory analysis. Direct review is unwarranted.

V. STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CROSS-PETITION

If a discretionary decision to take a judicial action is entitled a quasijudicial immunity, is a discretionary decision to refrain from taking a judicial action also entitled to quasi-judicial immunity?

VI. REASON CROSS-PETITION SHOULD BE GRANTED

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